

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

SciVerse ScienceDirect

www.elsevier.com/locate/yexcr



Review Article

Chromatin organization — The 30 nm fiber

Sergei A. Grigoryev^a, Christopher L. Woodcock^{b,*}

^aDepartment of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Penn State University College of Medicine, Hershey, PA 17033, USA ^bDepartment of Biology and Program in Molecular and Cellular Biology, University of Massachusetts Amherst, Amherst, MA 01003, USA

A R T I C L E I N F O R M A T I O N

Article Chronology: Received 1 February 2012 Revised version received 15 February 2012 Accepted 15 February 2012 Available online 24 February 2012

Keywords: Chromatin Nucleosome Histone Nucleus Chromosome Chromatin fiber

$\mathsf{A} \ \mathsf{B} \ \mathsf{S} \ \mathsf{T} \ \mathsf{R} \ \mathsf{A} \ \mathsf{C} \ \mathsf{T}$

Despite over 30 years of work, the fundamental structure of eukaryotic chromatin remains controversial. Here, we review the roots of this controversy in disparities between results derived from studies of chromatin in nuclei, chromatin isolated from nuclei, and chromatin reconstituted from defined components. Thanks to recent advances in imaging, modeling, and other approaches, it is now possible to recognize some unifying principles driving chromatin architecture at the level of the ubiquitous '30 nm' chromatin fiber. These suggest that fiber architecture involves both zigzag and bent linker motifs, and that such heteromorphic structures facilitate the observed high packing ratios. Interactions between neighboring fibers in highly compact chromatin lead to extensive interdigitation of nucleosomes and the inability to resolve individual fibers in compact chromatin *in situ*.

© 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

Introduction
Ultrastructure of chromatin in situ
30 nm fiber structure based on studies of chromatin isolated from nuclei
Studies of the 30 nm fiber structure using reconstituted nucleosome arrays
Models and experimental studies of intrinsic 30 nm fiber architecture
Toward a unifying concept of chromatin organization
Future prospects
Conflict of interest
Acknowledgments
References

* Corresponding author. Fax: +1 413 545 3243. E-mail address: chris@bio.umass.edu (C.L. Woodcock).

0014-4827/\$ – see front matter $\mbox{\sc 0}$ 2012 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2012.02.014

Introduction

Historically, determining the structure of an individual cell component and relating it to its function(s) has followed a well established path: the component is often first recognized in light or electron micrographs, then isolated for biochemical and further structural work, perhaps culminating in x-ray diffraction studies. Microtubules and actin filaments are examples of this route that come to mind — for others, somewhat different routes have been taken, but we now have a great deal of structural information about most cell components, providing a solid basis for further experimental work. Surprisingly, despite its central role in the cell, and the availability of x-ray data on nucleosomes, the structure of chromatin as it exists in living cells remains controversial. Here, we discuss the problems that have impeded progress, and consider strategies for moving forward, with emphasis on the 30 nm chromatin fiber.

Examination of the chromatin literature reveals a basic problem: when isolated from the nucleus, chromatin tends to adopt a fiber-like conformation. However, when nuclei are observed in situ using transmission electron microscopy (TEM) of sections, chromatin most commonly appears as rather uniform darkly staining masses with no obvious fiber-like properties. There are some exceptions to this rule which are informative in understanding the basis of the apparent discrepancy between the in vitro versus in situ observations. The frustrations of researchers in trying to come to grips with the problems of elucidating chromatin structures have been evident in such titles as 'Chromatin Higher Order Structure: Chasing a Mirage' [1] and 'Chromatin Structure: does the 30 nm fibre exist in vivo?' [2]. Indeed, at times, the situation has been reminiscent of the tale of the blind men assigned to describe an elephant, resulting in wildly differing accounts based on each's interpretation of a different portion of its anatomy. Here, we attempt to summarize the present state of the field, first examining chromatin as seen in nuclei and the heroic attempts to create preparations that are minimally disruptive and maximally informative, and then summarizing the much more extensive work on isolated chromatin. Finally, we consider hypotheses that may reconcile the apparent discrepancies that emerge from these two approaches.

The terminology used in describing chromatin structures has evolved over the years, and can be confusing. For example, the term 'native chromatin' was originally used as a descriptor for the unperturbed in vivo state, contrasting it with chromatin exposed to conditions that could lead to structural changes. More recently, the term 'native' has been applied to chromatin observed in or isolated from organisms, contrasting it with chromatin reconstituted from purified components in vitro. Here, we use the earlier definition. The term '10-nm chromatin fiber' has also been used to describe different states of chromatin. In some cases, the term has been applied broadly to any unfolded chromatin in the 'beads-on-a-string' conformation. The other, more restricted use, refers to a stack of nucleosomes forming a fiber ~10 nm in diameter as might be expected, for example, to result from a partially uncoiled solenoidal structure. For an open, uncondensed array of nucleosomes, the mean diameter is clearly considerably less than 10 nm, and in this sense, the term best avoided, or at least carefully defined. Finally, as noted previously [3], the term 'order' in 'higher order structure' has the same sense as in 'order of magnitude'. Nevertheless, perhaps because of the expectation that arrays of more-or-less identical units would fold into an 'ordered' array, the phrase has often been used in this more restrictive sense.

Ultrastructure of chromatin in situ

From the earliest work applying transmission EM to thin sections of cells, it was apparent that the techniques that were so successful with membranous and cytoskeletal components provided little information concerning the structural organization of chromatin and other nuclear components. Moreover, little improvement was seen as advances in specimen preparation were applied. Nevertheless, there was an expectation that chromatin adopted a fiber-like conformation which would be apparent if a suitably gentle technique for preparing thin sections could be developed. As early as 1963, J. G. Gall obtained compelling images of chromatin fibers obtained by spreading nucleated amphibian erythrocytes on a water surface [4]: this was followed by a more comprehensive exploration of techniques and a wider range of chromatin sources that resulted in ~30 nm diameter fibers [5]. One interpretation of these studies was that chromatin that appeared as a more-or-less undifferentiated dense mass in thin section TEM became decondensed when exposed to low ionic strength conditions, revealing the underlying ~30 nm fiber organization. This suggested that the original dense chromatin in vivo contained fibers that were so close packed that they could not be discriminated. This property underscores a major difference between chromatin and other fiber-like cellular components such as microtubules which retain their individuality in thin section TEM in the close-packed state.

A nagging possibility for the apparent absence of a fiber organization in TEM sections of native nuclei has been that chromatin is more liable to disruption by the procedures needed to prepare thin sections than other cellular components. Therefore, as each advance in TEM specimen preparation has been developed (cryofixation, freeze substitution, low temperature embedding, freeze-etch etc.), it has been applied to nuclei [6-8]. More advanced processing of electron micrographs, including tomographic 3D reconstruction has also been used in attempts to distinguish substructure in chromatin masses, in some cases revealing very short fiber-like regions with a variety of diameters [7]. Cryo-TEM of thin sections obtained from vitrified cells observed in the frozen hydrated state, perhaps the present 'gold standard' for retaining structural integrity [9] has also been applied to cultured cells in interphase and metaphase [10,11]. None of these techniques has enabled large scale visualization of ~30 nm chromatin fibers in situ. There are also concerns regarding potential limitations of cryo-techniques. Does the local heating resulting from the passage of the microtome knife through the vitrified sample perturb the native structure? Is the rate of cooling sufficient to arrest the extremely rapid conformational fluctuations that occur over microsecond timescales [12]? Alternate hypotheses for the non-appearance of chromatin fibers based on the premise that individual chromatin fibers do not exist in native chromatin in situ have also been put forward. These are based on the property of chains of nucleosomes to interdigitate via face-to-face interactions between non-adjacent nucleosomes [13] or form a 'molten globule' [11] when packed closely at the very high concentrations that exist in vivo. In a very recent study by Nishino and colleagues using both small angle x-ray scattering (SAXS) and cryo-sections [14] of isolated metaphase chromosomes,

no evidence for 30 nm-like higher-order structures was found. However, the SAXS signal did indicate structure at the level of the nucleosome diameter (11 nm) and strong face-to-face interactions between the nucleosome discs (6 nm) providing key evidence supporting a non-fiber arrangement of nucleosome chains, perhaps mediated by interface interactions between distal nucleosomes.

Contrasting with these results are observations on a special class of nuclei where fibers can be observed in situ. These include nucleated erythrocytes and echinoderm sperm and share the following properties: transcription largely or completely absent; presence of specialized, more highly charged H1-type histones; a longer nucleosome repeat length; and a low proportion of nonhistone chromatin proteins. These nuclei also give x-ray scattering profiles indicative of a more prominent internal structure than active nuclei [15]. When observed with thin section TEM either in the native state, or after a very mild decondensation, these nuclei are seen to contain clear ~30 nm diameter chromatin fibers, just as would be predicted based on the appearance of fibers in decondensed and spread nuclei [4,5]. Fibers are evident in these specialized nuclei both in frozen hydrated [16], and in more conventional thin section TEM where tomographic reconstruction revealed irregular zigzags of nucleosomes and linker DNA [17]. Here, it is important to emphasize that even in these specialized nuclei, the appearance of fibers may require mild decondensation. For example, a recent cryo-EM tomographic study of chicken erythrocyte chromatin used isolated nuclei exposed briefly to low salt [18]. Nevertheless, the ability to determine the 3D locations of individual nucleosomes in fibers provides valuable insight, allowing comparisons with results using fibers isolated from nuclei or created in vitro by reconstitution. The aforementioned EM cryo-tomography study was able to recognize structural motifs within 30 nm fibers from avian erythrocytes [18] that mirrored the zigzag organization seen in isolated fibers. Vertebrate retinal rod photoreceptor cells provide another special case. These nuclei have a central mass of compact heterochromatin surrounded by layers of less compact chromatin. When samples of retina were vitrified after dextran cryoprotection, freeze-substituted, embedded in epoxy at 60 C, and sections subjected to tomographic analysis, the 3D reconstructions revealed concentric layers of chromatin of varying compaction ranging from a central mass in which no fibers were apparent, to less compact regions with ~30 nm fibers. In the outer, most decondensed layers, beads-on-a-string nucleosomal arrays could be identified [19].

There are two common structural features derived from tomographic studies where the 3D locations of nucleosomes have been determined. Firstly, nucleosomes tend to occupy the fiber periphery, with linker DNA more centrally located, favoring a zigzag arrangement, and secondly, the fibers are irregular, and lack a distinct symmetry.

30 nm fiber structure based on studies of chromatin isolated from nuclei

To isolate chromatin for *in vitro* studies, controlled nuclease fragmentation followed by elution from the nuclei with lowsalt or physiological solutions is typically employed. The fragments containing from one to several hundred nucleosomes may then be probed by biochemical, biophysical, or imaging techniques.

Due to the size and complexity of soluble chromatin, electron microscopy (EM) has been most effective in analysis of saltdependent folding of chromatin fibers in solution. A classic example is the study of Thoma et al. [20] showing a progressive saltdependent folding of chromatin isolated from rat liver nuclei. At low salt concentration, the nucleosome arrays fold into fibers with ca. 30 nm diameter and distinct zigzag path of the nucleosome linkers in the middle of the fiber, leaving the nucleosome cores at the fiber periphery. Upon increasing the ionic strength to about 100 mM, the chromatin fibers contract without much change in diameter suggesting a longitudinal folding along the main axis of the fiber [20]. Later imaging of isolated chromatin fibers with nucleosomal resolution in the partially condensed form using transmission EM [21], atomic force microscopy [22] and cryo-EM [23] revealed an intrinsic heterogeneity of nucleosome packing within the 30 nm fiber attributed to the variability in nucleosome orientation resulting from the helical nature and length variability of linker DNA [21]. This structural heterogeneity persists even when chromatin fibers are strongly compacted by divalent cations as observed by cryo-EM tomography [24]. Electron microscopy also revealed the formation of "stem" motifs by closely juxtaposed linker DNA [23,25], suggesting that the formation of the linker DNA "stem" coupled with the neutralization of the negative charge of linker DNA by linker (H1 type) histone promote the longitudinal compaction of the 30 nm fiber.

Because the 30 nm diameter appeared to be relatively independent of the salt conditions and nucleosome packing heterogeneity *in vitro* and was close to the fiber diameter measured *in situ* (see earlier discussion), the term "30 nm fiber" is now generally applied to describe the almost universal higher-order structure of compact chromatin fibers in solution. However, within the most compact fibers, individual nucleosomes often cannot be revealed by EM and there is still debate whether the nucleosome linkers become bent or remain straight during the transition from the open zigzag to the folded form and whether the conformational heterogeneity seen in the open zigzag is maintained in the compact fiber.

Scanning transmission electron microscopy (STEM) as well as neutron scattering allows one to determine the mass of the imaged chromatin array and thus calculate mass per unit length. For chromatin fibers containing repeated nucleosomes of known molecular mass, this parameter is usually represented as number of nucleosomes per 11 nm of fiber (diameter of a single nucleosome). At physiological concentrations of monovalent cations, the mass per unit length may reach 8 nucleosomes/11 nm [26,27]. These STEM studies also confirmed a strong dependence of mass per unit length upon the solution ionic strength, again without much change in diameter, consistent with longitudinal folding of the 30 nm fiber. The diameter and the mass per unit length determined in these early studies remain among the most consistent characteristics of native chromatin measured *in vitro*.

Studies of the 30 nm fiber structure using reconstituted nucleosome arrays

Biochemically defined nucleosome arrays may be assembled from isolated or recombinant histones and DNA (native or recombinant) by dialysis from high to low salt concentration [28]. A significant breakthrough in understanding the internal organization of the chromatin fiber was facilitated by construction of polynucleosome templates for precise positioning of histone octamers — initially from repeats of 5S ribosomal DNA [29] and later from clone 601 DNA selected from random synthetic DNA sequences [30]. Construction of defined polynucleosome arrays greatly improved the precision and reproducibility of *in vitro* experiments, allowing dissection of the contributions of particular chromatin structural elements such as linker histones, core histone N-terminal domains, posttranslational histone modifications, and histone variants that modify the nucleosome surface, to 30 nm fiber structure (see [31]).

Because of the high uniformity and reproducibility of reconstituted nucleosome arrays, sedimentation velocity analysis is especially powerful in identifying small structural changes dependent on histone composition, DNA length, and solution components. Earlier sedimentation studies (reviewed in [32]) provided reference data for subsequent work on chromatin fiber in solution. Most of the sedimentation studies employed 12-mer nucleosome repeats with 200–208 bp nucleosome repeat lengths. The correspondence between S values, ionic conditions, and chromatin compaction levels as seen by EM under the same conditions (see later) is schematized in Fig. 1.

Since each nucleosome is positioned, it is possible to construct arrays of precise length and calculate their compaction very accurately. EM images of 12-mer nucleosome arrays based on clone 601 are very consistent with the sedimentation values for 12-mer nucleosomes in the open, partially folded, and completely folded states [33,34] thus providing a reliable link between sedimentation analysis (Fig. 1), EM imaging, and computational modeling (Fig. 2).

Since compact 12-mers are too short to measure fiber diameters accurately, a series of polynucleosome DNA templates containing several dozen clone 601 repeats with different nucleosome repeat lengths was constructed by D. Rhodes and colleagues providing fibers where diameters could be measured accurately and mass/unit length calculated. Measurements of chromatin fibers reconstituted with various nucleosome repeat lengths (177-237 bp) and completely folded by linker histone and divalent ions suggested a stepwise increase in chromatin diameter from ~33 nm for chromatin with 177-207 bp repeat to ~44 nm for 217-237 bp repeat. This nucleosome repeat length-dependent increase in fiber diameter was associated with a jump in nucleosome packing from 10-11 to 14-17 nucleosomes per 11 nm [35]. It thus appears that the packing density promoted by linker histone and divalent ions exceeds the compaction seen with native chromatin in vitro [24,36] and in situ [18].

Models and experimental studies of intrinsic 30 nm fiber architecture

Despite more than 30 years of research, the exact configuration of nucleosome linker DNA and how nucleosomes interact with each other inside the 30 nm chromatin fiber are not completely understood [37]. Based on studies of native chromatin fibers, Finch and Klug proposed the first post-nucleosomal model of the chromatin fiber — a one-start solenoid-type helix with approximately 6 nucleosomes per turn (~11 nm) and bent DNA linkers that continued the helical trajectory established in the nucleosome core and with each nucleosome making close contact with its immediate neighbor in the array [38].

A few years later, Worcel et al. [39] and Woodcock et al. [27] proposed alternative zigzag structures consisting of a two-start helical ribbon with straight DNA linkers. Several other topologies besides the basic zigzag and solenoid models have been proposed: for example the interdigitated solenoid [40] where planes of nucleosomes coming from the adjacent turns of the solenoid criss-cross one another.

The most likely reason for the long-standing inability to solve the 30 nm fiber structure was the high degree of intrinsic irregularity of the native chromatin due to linker length variations, various histone modifications, histone variants, and variable linker histone level. Therefore, more recent experiments addressing the internal structure of the 30 nm fiber have combined highly regular repeats with strong nucleosome positioning sequences such as Widom's clone 601-based arrays, with highly uniform recombinant histones.

Based on their observations of the role of histone H4 N-tail in compacting the 30 nm fiber [41], Richmond and colleagues designed an elegant experiment where core histones H4 and H2A were modified to facilitate bifunctional chemical crosslinking between the histone H4 N-tail and the H2A/H2B acidic patch that interact at the interface of crystallized nucleosomes [42]. Crosslinking was initiated under conditions that induce the most compact state of the 30 nm with high Mg²⁺ concentrations, after which the fibers were unfolded by exposure to low salt and imaged by transmission EM. The results provided compelling evidence for a zigzag structure with two-start nucleosome arrangement [43].

Zigzag folding was also evident in the subsequent crystallographic study of a tetranucleosome [44] with a short, 167 bp, repeat and without linker histones. X-ray analysis showed that under the high Mg^{2+} crystallization conditions, nucleosome core



Fig. 1 – Scheme showing correspondence between proposed *in vitro* compaction states and sedimentation coefficients of 207×12 nucleosomal arrays.



Fig. 2 – Electron microscopy and modeling of unfolded nucleosome arrays and compact chromatin fibers. 1,2: Electron micrographs (platinum shadowing) of regular 207×12 core arrays (no linker histone) in 5 mM NaCl (1,2). 3–6: linker histone-containing regular 207×12 arrays condensed in 150 mM NaCl (3) and 1 mM MgCl₂ (4) and variable $(207 \pm 2) \times 12$ arrays condensed in 150 mM NaCl (5) or 1 mM MgCl₂ (6). 7: Average diameter of uniform and variable linker histone-containing arrays condensed in 150 mM NaCl (open columns) and 1 mM MgCl₂ (black columns). Error bars represent standard errors of mean.8–10: Models based on Monte Carlo (MC) simulation of 12×207 oligonucleosomes at 0.01 M monovalent salt without linker histone (8), and 0.15 M monovalent salt with linker histone (9), and with linker histone and Mg²⁺ (10) highlight compaction effects of linker histones and Mg²⁺.11, 12: Space-filling models based on MC simulation of 48-unit oligonucleosome chains compacted at 0.15 M monovalent salt with linker histone (11), and with linker histone and Mg²⁺ (12). 11: compaction at 150 mM NaCl leads to a two-start zigzag chromatin fiber with predominantly i ± 2 interactions between the most proximal nucleosomes 33 and 35, 34 and 36, 36 and 38) shown by green arrows. 12: in the presence of 1 mM MgCl₂ several nucleosomes have bent linkers resulting in i \pm 1 interactions (nucleosomes 1 and 2, 4 and 5), interspersed with i ± 2 (1 and 3) and i ± 3 (6 and 3) interactions. Odd-numbered nucleosomes are indicated by burgundy for the DNA and blue for the cores. Even-numbered nucleosomes are indicated by red for the DNA and white for the cores. Modified from Ref. [33].

arrays can spontaneously fold into a regular structure [44] consistent with earlier two-start zigzag models [15,27]. Because of the relatively low resolution achieved with tetranucleosome crystals [44], the forces and interactions stabilizing the compact structure were not revealed.

As discussed earlier, using DNA templates containing several dozen clone 601 repeats with different nucleosome repeat lengths, D. Rhodes and colleagues were able to demonstrate a very tight compaction of reconstituted chromatin fibers especially for repeats above 207 bp [35]. In terms of internucleosomal interactions, these results were interpreted as evidence for the interdigitated solenoid model [40], as the observed high nucleosome packing ratio was not compatible with other zigzag or solenoidal models [35,45]. However, these compact structures are also consistent with the polymorphic multi-start chromatin fiber model with extended nucleosome linkers [46] showing that bent linker DNA conformation does not uniquely fit into the compact 30 nm fiber.

For very short nucleosome repeat lengths typical of yeast and neuronal cells (~167 bp) a distinctly smaller fiber diameter of about 21 nm with apparent 2-start organization was observed by EM [47], consistent with the nucleosome stacking observed in tetranucleosome crystals [44] and sedimentation [34]. Thus the 167 bp repeat fiber is the first chromatin higher-order structure for which there is a good agreement between biophysical characteristics, EM imaging, and X-ray crystallography.

The internal organization of the 30 nm fiber can also be probed by single-molecule force spectroscopy (SMFS) in which reconstituted or native chromatin fibers are conjugated with synthetic beads that may then be captured by optical or magnetic traps. Applying a pulling force on these beads and analysis of the resulting fiber extension provides a way to examine the internal forces between nucleosomes and relate them to different chromatin models. Results of earlier SMFS experiments conducted at physiological concentration of monovalent cations were consistent with a zigzag fiber architecture [48]. In contrast, a more recent SMFS study of nucleosome arrays folded by divalent cations suggested a fundamental one-start solenoid organization for the chromatin fiber, and a stabilizing rather than essential contribution of the linker histone to fiber compaction [49]. This interpretation argues for the classic rather than the interdigitated solenoid and thus does not explain the higher packing ratio achieved in the presence of divalent cations by free 30 nm fibers [35,45]. Alternative interpretations include the likelihood that the fiber structure was heterogeneous due to the partial unfolding of the outer DNA segments in the nucleosome core [50], or that under tension, nucleosome rearrangement to form irregular "superbeads" was occurring [51].

Another approach that gives a more holistic view of chromatin organization is provided by contemporary in silico modeling that aims to recreate the 30 nm fiber starting with arrays of nucleosome cores on DNA and incorporating known chemical and physical interactions, factors and associated charges (counterions, linker histone, histone N-tails, and their modifications). The nucleosome models are then subjected to multiple simulated random conformational variations by the Monte Carlo method to determine the most energetically favorable conformations (for reviews see [31,52]. While precise atomic modeling is not yet feasible because many important interactions inside the chromatin fibers are not fully understood, the computations typically result in the prediction of a limited number of energetically favorable structures that can be tested empirically. In one recent example, a "mesoscopic" computational model of the 30 nm fiber was derived and coupled with an EM-assisted nucleosome interaction capture (EMANIC) technique. Both approaches revealed an internal structural heterogeneity of 30 nm fibers compacted with linker histone and Mg²⁺ [34]. Although the fibers showed a predominantly twostart organization, the structures were interspersed with partially bent linker DNA where interactions between consecutive nucleosomes typical of one-start solenoids occurred. These experimental data were in excellent agreement with results of Monte Carlo simulations (Fig. 2) which revealed that linker DNA crossing in the center of the fiber hinders longitudinal zigzag compaction. Remarkably, the spontaneous bending of only one linker per 5-6 nucleosomes was sufficient to achieve an energetically favorable longitudinal folding in the presence of divalent cations.

The combined results of EMANIC and computational modeling reconcile a two-start zigzag topology with the type of linker DNA bending that defines solenoid models and suggests a single heteromorphic chromatin fiber structure. The heteromorphic model (Fig. 2) is fully consistent with the internal heterogeneity of native chromatin fibers observed by EM and Cryo-EM [21,24] as well as with the fiber diameter and mass-per-unit length of chromatin isolated from nuclei [36].The ability of the chromatin fiber to reach full compaction despite internal heterogeneity apparently reflects the unique property of the 30 nm fiber to incorporate multiple conformations resulting from dynamic interactions of the sort that are likely to occur *in vivo*.

Toward a unifying concept of chromatin organization

Despite the disparities discussed above both between and within *in situ* and *in vitro* approaches, we now seem to be converging

on a few unifying themes and it is possible to propose a hypothesis based on two properties of arrays of nucleosomes. First, under appropriate 'physiological' conditions, arrays of nucleosomes in solution adopt a 30 nm fiber conformation which is broadly based on a zigzag arrangement of nucleosomes and linker DNA. These fibers are not highly ordered, but even when constructed from identical components, show many irregularities that are likely related to the energetic costs of retaining a strict zigzag during compaction. In chromatin obtained from nuclei, additional irregularities arise from variations in linker DNA length, occupancy of linker histone, post-synthetic modifications of core and linker histones, and the presence of histone variants. As chromatin concentration increases, both in vitro and in vivo, the forces maintaining intrafiber integrity compete with inter-fiber nucleosome-nucleosome interactions, allowing their interdigitation. At this point, EM images fail to convey the underlying fiber organization, rather, suggesting a 'molten globule' sea of close-packed nucleosomes. However, if it were possible to follow a chain of nucleosomes in this 'sea', an irregular pleated fiber-like trajectory would be traced out. A strong signal corresponding to face-to-face nucleosome interactions (6 nm) detected by small-angle X-ray scattering in condensed metaphase chromosomes [14] suggests that this type of interaction may constrain the pleated fibers in a manner similar to the hydrogen bonds that stabilize folded β -strands in a protein. Thus, the conformation might be considered a 'constrained pleated fiber' resembling protein β -sheets rather than helices. Conversely, as compaction-inducing conditions are relaxed, intra-fiber interactions begin to dominate, and fibers become observable by EM as separate entities with the helical structural features discussed earlier.

Future prospects

Technical advances in the past decade have been instrumental in providing critical new information, and it is likely that this trend will continue. As computing power grows, *in silico* chromatin modeling is likely to incorporate more factors, and perhaps advance from the mesoscale level of 'resolution'. Similarly, the increasing power and availability of EMs designed specifically for cryo-tomography of low contrast specimens is likely to propel that aspect of chromatin structure examination.

One of the limitations of most current EM imaging is its inability to discriminate based on composition. However, that limitation may be ending. A recent study of chromatin organization using EM sections was based on the incorporation of large segments of foreign DNA into cultured cells coupled with antibodies specific to the foreign chromatin. Immunogold labeling revealed that the foreign chromatin adopted a distinct fiber-like conformation which was not visible in unlabeled nuclei [53]. However, the fibers were in the order of 120 nm in diameter, and their relationship with 30 nm fibers remains unclear.

X-ray microscopy and tomography of vitrified cells provides a novel high resolution imaging approach that is becoming applied to cell structures, including nuclei [54]. The high coherence and penetrating power of synchrotron x-rays may provide the resolution and contrast to complement data obtained with TEM.

Perhaps especially informative in the near future will be the application of 'super resolution' light microscopy. The resolution 'gap' between light and electron microscopy has long been recognized as limiting structural analysis of nuclei and chromosomes, and the ability to bridge it with techniques such as photoactivated localization microscopy (PALM) is already yielding important new information [55]. These authors used sophisticated image processing techniques to examine PALM images of Drosophila embryo chromosomes carrying an EGFP-labeled H2A variant. Filamentous structures ~70 nm in diameter were consistently seen. Again, the relationships between these structures and 30 nm fibers remain to be determined. With predicted resolutions as small as 20 nm, these advanced imaging techniques have the potential to open up the field of nuclear structure, to include multiple levels of organization. We are still largely ignorant of chromatin organization above the 30 nm fiber, and there is little evidence for the strict hierarchy of folding levels once predicted. A full discussion of this topic is beyond the scope of this review, but some aspects are covered in [3,56]. Indeed, the emergence of other techniques, such as those based on 'Chromatin Conformation Capture' that interrogate the 3D structure of the nucleus augurs a bright and exciting future.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflicting interests.

Acknowledgments

Sergei Grigoryev acknowledges funding support by NSF grant MCB-1021681.

REFERENCES

- [1] K. van Holde, J. Zlatanova, Chromatin higher order structure: chasing a mirage? J. Biol. Chem. 270 (1995) 8373–8376.
- [2] K. Maeshima, S. Hihara, M. Eltsov, Chromatin structure: does the 30-nm fibre exist *in vivo*? Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 22 (2010) 291–297.
- [3] C.L. Woodcock, R.P. Ghosh, Chromatin higher-order structure and dynamics, Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 2 (2010) a000596.
- [4] J. Gall, Chromosome fibers from an interphase nucleus, Science 139 (1963) 120–121.
- [5] J.G. Gall, Chromosome fibers studied by a spreading technique, Chromosoma 20 (1966) 221–233.
- [6] R.A. Horowitz, P.J. Giannasca, C.L. Woodcock, Ultrastructural preservation of nuclei and chromatin: improvement with low-temperature methods, J. Microsc. 157 (1990) 205–224.
- [7] A.S. Belmont, K. Bruce, Visualization of G1 chromosomes: a folded, twisted, supercoiled chromonema model of interphase chromatid structure, J. Cell Biol. 127 (1994) 287–302.
- [8] A.S. Belmont, M.B. Braunfeld, J.W. Sedat, D.A. Agard, Large-scale chromatin structural domains within mitotic and interphase chromosomes *in vivo* and *in vitro*, Chromosoma 98 (1989) 129–143.
- [9] A.S. Frangakis, J. Bohm, F. Forster, S. Nickell, D. Nicastro, D. Typke, R. Hegerl, W. Baumeister, Identification of macromolecular complexes in cryoelectron tomograms of phantom cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 99 (2002) 14153–14158.
- [10] A.W. McDowall, J.M. Smith, J. Dubochet, Cryo-electron microscopy of vitrified chromosomes *in situ*, EMBO J. 5 (1986) 1395–1402.

- [11] M. Eltsov, K.M. Maclellan, K. Maeshima, A.S. Frangakis, J. Dubochet, Analysis of cryo-electron microscopy images does not support the existence of 30-nm chromatin fibers in mitotic chromosomes *in situ*, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 19732–19737.
- [12] M.G. Poirier, E. Oh, H.S. Tims, J. Widom, Dynamics and function of compact nucleosome arrays, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 16 (2009) 938–944.
- [13] S.A. Grigoryev, Keeping fingers crossed: heterochromatin spreading through interdigitation of nucleosome arrays, FEBS Lett. 564 (2004) 4–8.
- [14] Y. Nishino, M. Eltsov, Y. Joti, K. Ito, H. Takata, Y. Takahashi, S. Hihara, A. S. Frangakis, N. Imamoto, T. Ishikawa, and K. Maeshima, Human mitotic chromosomes consist predominantely of irregularly folded nucleosome fibers without a 30-nm chromatin structure, Embo J. (Feb. 17 2012) [Electronic publication ahead of print], doi:10.1038/emboj.2012.35.
- [15] S.P. Williams, B.D. Athey, L.J. Muglia, R.S. Schappe, A.H. Gough, J.P. Langmore, Chromatin fibers are left-handed double helices with diameter and mass per unit length that depend on linker length, Biophys. J. 49 (1986) 233–248.
- [16] C.L. Woodcock, Chromatin fibers observed *in situ* in frozen hydrated sections. Native fiber diameter is not correlated with nucleosome repeat length, J. Cell Biol. 125 (1994) 11–19.
- [17] R.A. Horowitz, D.A. Agard, J.W. Sedat, C.L. Woodcock, The three-dimensional architecture of chromatin *in situ*: electron tomography reveals fibers composed of a continuously variable zig-zag nucleosomal ribbon, J. Cell Biol. 125 (1994) 1–10.
- [18] M.P. Scheffer, M. Eltsov, A.S. Frangakis, Evidence for short-range helical order in the 30-nm chromatin fibers of erythrocyte nuclei, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (2011) 16992–16997.
- [19] C. Kizilyaprak, D. Spehner, D. Devys, P. Schultz, *In vivo* chromatin organization of mouse rod photoreceptors correlates with histone modifications, PLoS One 5 (2010) e11039.
- [20] F. Thoma, T. Koller, A. Klug, Involvement of histone H1 in the organization of the nucleosome and of the salt-dependent superstructures of chromatin, J. Cell Biol. 83 (1979) 403–427.
- [21] C.L. Woodcock, S.A. Grigoryev, R.A. Horowitz, N. Whitaker, A chromatin folding model that incorporates linker variability generates fibers resembling the native structures, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 90 (1993) 9021–9025.
- [22] S.H. Leuba, G. Yang, C. Robert, B. Samori, K. van Holde, J. Zlatanova, C. Bustamante, Three-dimensional structure of extended chromatin fibers as revealed by tapping-mode scanning force microscopy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91 (1994) 11621–11625.
- [23] J. Bednar, R.A. Horowitz, S.A. Grigoryev, L.M. Carruthers, J.C. Hansen, A.J. Koster, C.L. Woodcock, Nucleosomes, linker DNA, and linker histone form a unique structural motif that directs the higher-order folding and compaction of chromatin, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95 (1998) 14173–14178.
- [24] M.P. Scheffer, M. Eltsov, J. Bednar, A.S. Frangakis, Nucleosomes stacked with aligned dyad axes are found in native compact chromatin *in vitro*, J. Struct. Biol. (2012).
- [25] A. Hamiche, P. Schultz, V. Ramakrishnan, P. Oudet, A. Prunell, Linker histone-dependent DNA structure in linear mononucleosomes, J. Mol. Biol. 257 (1996) 30–42.
- [26] S.E. Gerchman, V. Ramakrishnan, Chromatin higher-order structure studied by neutron scattering and scanning transmission electron microscopy, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 84 (1987) 7802–7806.
- [27] C.L. Woodcock, L.L. Frado, J.B. Rattner, The higher-order structure of chromatin: evidence for a helical ribbon arrangement, J. Cell Biol. 99 (1984) 42–52.
- [28] L.M. Carruthers, C. Tse, K.P. Walker III, J.C. Hansen, Assembly of defined nucleosomal and chromatin arrays from pure components, Methods Enzymol. 304 (1999) 19–35.
- [29] R.T. Simpson, F. Thoma, J.M. Brubaker, Chromatin reconstituted from tandemly repeated cloned DNA fragments and core

histones: a model system for study of higher order structure, Cell 42 (1985) 799–808.

- [30] P.T. Lowary, J. Widom, New DNA sequence rules for high affinity binding to histone octamer and sequence-directed nucleosome positioning, JMB 276 (1998) 19–42.
- [31] T. Schlick, J. Hayes, S. Grigoryev, Towards convergence of experimental studies and theoretical modeling of the chromatin fiber, J. Biol. Chem. 287 (2012) 5193-5191.
- [32] J.C. Hansen, Conformational dynamics of the chromatin fiber in solution: determinants, mechanisms, and functions, Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 31 (2002) 361–392.
- [33] V.A. Huynh, P.J. Robinson, D. Rhodes, A method for the *in vitro* reconstitution of a defined "30 nm" chromatin fibre containing stoichiometric amounts of the linker histone, J. Mol. Biol. 345 (2005) 957–968.
- [34] S.A. Grigoryev, G. Arya, S. Correll, C.L. Woodcock, T. Schlick, Evidence for heteromorphic chromatin fibers from analysis of nucleosome interactions, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106 (2009) 13317–13322.
- [35] P.J. Robinson, L. Fairall, V.A. Huynh, D. Rhodes, EM measurements define the dimensions of the "30-nm" chromatin fiber: evidence for a compact, interdigitated structure, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 6506–6511.
- [36] R. Ghirlando, G. Felsenfeld, Hydrodynamic studies on defined heterochromatin fragments support a 30-nm fiber having six nucleosomes per turn, J. Mol. Biol. 376 (2008) 1417–1425.
- [37] D.J. Tremethick, Higher-order structures of chromatin: the elusive 30 nm fiber, Cell 128 (2007) 651–654.
- [38] J.T. Finch, A. Klug, Solenoidal model for superstructure in chromatin, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 73 (1976) 1897–1901.
- [39] A. Worcel, S. Strogatz, D. Riley, Structure of chromatin and the linking number of DNA, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 78 (1981) 1461–1465.
- [40] J.R. Daban, A. Bermudez, Interdigitated solenoid model for compact chromatin fibers, Biochemistry 37 (1998) 4299–4304.
- [41] B. Dorigo, T. Schalch, K. Bystricky, T.J. Richmond, Chromatin fiber folding: requirement for the histone H4 N-terminal tail, J. Mol. Biol. 327 (2003) 85–96.
- [42] K. Luger, A.W. Mader, R.K. Richmond, D.F. Sargent, T.J. Richmond, Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution, Nature 389 (1997) 251–260.
- [43] B. Dorigo, T. Schalch, A. Kulangara, S. Duda, R.R. Schroeder, T.J. Richmond, Nucleosome arrays reveal the two-start organization of the chromatin fiber, Science 306 (2004) 1571–1573.

- [44] T. Schalch, S. Duda, D.F. Sargent, T.J. Richmond, X-ray structure of a tetranucleosome and its implications for the chromatin fibre, Nature 436 (2005) 138–141.
- [45] P.J. Robinson, D. Rhodes, Structure of the '30nm' chromatin fibre: a key role for the linker histone, Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 16 (2006) 336–343.
- [46] H. Wong, J.M. Victor, J. Mozziconacci, An all-atom model of the chromatin fiber containing linker histones reveals a versatile structure tuned by the nucleosomal repeat length, PLoS One 2 (2007) e877.
- [47] A. Routh, S. Sandin, D. Rhodes, Nucleosome repeat length and linker histone stoichiometry determine chromatin fiber structure, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105 (2008) 8872–8877.
- [48] Y. Cui, C. Bustamante, Pulling a single chromatin fiber reveals the forces that maintain its higher-order structure, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 97 (2000) 127–132.
- [49] M. Kruithof, F.T. Chien, A. Routh, C. Logie, D. Rhodes, J. van Noort, Single-molecule force spectroscopy reveals a highly compliant helical folding for the 30-nm chromatin fiber, Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 16 (2009) 534–540.
- [50] C. Lavelle, J.M. Victor, J. Zlatanova, Chromatin fiber dynamics under tension and torsion, Int. J. Mol. Sci. 11 (2010) 1557–1579.
- [51] R. Collepardo-Guevara, T. Schlick, The Effect of Linker Histone's Nucleosome Binding Affinity on Chromatin Unfolding Mechanisms, Biophys. J. 101 (2011) 1670–1680.
- [52] J. Langowski, D.W. Heermann, Computational modeling of the chromatin fiber, Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 18 (2007) 659–667.
- [53] I. Kireev, M. Lakonishok, W. Liu, V.N. Joshi, R. Powell, A.S. Belmont, *In vivo* immunogold labeling confirms large-scale chromatin folding motifs, Nat. Methods 5 (2008) 311–313.
- [54] G. Schneider, P. Guttmann, S. Heim, S. Rehbein, F. Mueller, K. Nagashima, J.B. Heymann, W.G. Muller, J.G. McNally, Three-dimensional cellular ultrastructure resolved by X-ray microscopy, Nat. Methods 7 (2010) 985–987.
- [55] A. Matsuda, L. Shao, J. Boulanger, C. Kervrann, P.M. Carlton, P. Kner, D. Agard, J.W. Sedat, Condensed mitotic chromosome structure at nanometer resolution using PALM and EGFP- histones, PLoS One 5 (2010) e12768.
- [56] A. Sanyal, D. Bau, M.A. Marti-Renom, J. Dekker, Chromatin globules: a common motif of higher order chromosome structure? Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 23 (2011) 325–331.